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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TAMPA DIVISION 

 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

        

v.       CASE NO. 8:14-CR-00141-SCB-MAP 

      

VINCENT STRAWBRIDGE, 

              

 Defendant. 

________________________________/ 

 

SENTENCING MEMORANDUM 

Comes now the Defendant, VINCENT FREDERICK STRAWBRIDGE, by and through 

undersigned counsel, and hereby files this Sentencing Memorandum in advance of the 

sentencing proceeding scheduled for July 22, 2014.  On April 7, 2014, Mr. Strawbridge entered 

into a written plea agreement and consented to prosecution by way of Information.  Mr. 

Strawbridge pleaded guilty to a one count Information charging him with wire fraud affecting a 

financial institution in violation of 18 U.S.C § 1343.  

Mr. Strawbridge has been a home builder and real estate developer for nearly his entire 

forty year career.  As the letters provided to the Court attest, Mr. Strawbridge has positively 

impacted many people over his life and had a stellar reputation for integrity and generosity.  

(Exhibit 1).
1
  His unexplainable commission of the offense in this case is contrasted by what has 

otherwise been an exemplary life.  For the reasons set forth below, Mr. Strawbridge respectfully 

requests the Court show leniency and sentence him to time served followed by a period of 

supervised release.    

                                                 
1
 Exhibit 1 is the compilation of the letters of support previously provided to the Court by Probation and is not being 

filed electronically as an exhibit due the size of the file and to avoid redundant filing.  This memorandum references 

excerpts from specific letters and those letters are separated and marked as individual exhibits to this memorandum.  
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A.  Background 

Mr. Strawbridge grew up in Illinois and then Plant City, Florida as one of seven children.  

His father worked various jobs to support his family.  His mother was a teacher's aide and 

homemaker.  Mr. Strawbridge graduated from high school in 1965 and earned a football 

scholarship to the University of Miami.   After graduating from Miami, Mr. Strawbridge earned a 

Master's degree from Illinois State University.  Mr. Strawbridge married his wife, Dellynne 

Strawbridge, in 1970.  They moved to Lakeland, Florida, and Mr. Strawbridge began working in 

the home construction industry with his father. 

Mr. Strawbridge became one of Lakeland's leading residential home builders.  Mr. 

Strawbridge built his own home in 1980, and he and his wife still reside there.  Mr. Strawbridge 

and his wife have six adult children including one adult foster child.  Early in their marriage, the 

Strawbridge's took in their foster child who was a homeless teenager at the time so she is only 

eight years younger than Mr. Strawbridge.  She is a truck driver in Illinois. 

One of Mr. Strawbridge's sons is a sales representative in Auburndale, another is an 

accountant in Denver, Colorado, and another is a soccer coach at the University of Arkansas.  

Mr. Strawbridge's daughter lives in Germany as her husband is in the military.  Mr. 

Strawbridge's eldest son suffered significant financial losses as a result of the 2008 recession and 

is saddled with substantial debt.  As a result, Mr. Strawbridge took in his son, his wife, and their 

four children.  Mr. Strawbridge also gave his son a job with his company.  Mr. Strawbridge's son 

expects it may take another ten years to pay off his debt so his family will continue to rely on 

Mr. Strawbridge for support in the near future.            

When Mr. Strawbridge's father was in financial distress, he provided a home and support 

for them.  Mr. Strawbridge's mother still lives on his property, but is stricken with dementia and 
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other health problems.  Mr. Strawbridge is primarily responsible for her financial and physical 

support.  Mr. Strawbridge also opened his home to his mother-in-law and father-in-law when his 

father-in-law developed Alzheimer's disease.  Mr. Strawbridge built a home for them on his 

property where his mother-in-law still lives.  In 1998, Mr. Strawbridge's brother became a 

quadriplegic due to a skiing accident.  Mr. Strawbridge stepped in to provide daily financial, 

emotional, and physical support to his brother and his ten children.    

Mr. Strawbridge's generosity extends beyond his own family.  He had a subcontractor 

who became a quadriplegic in a diving accident.  Mr. Strawbridge paid half his subcontractor's 

mortgage for eighteen years so he and his family would not lose their home.  Mr. Strawbridge 

has had a rare impact on many lives.  The letters of support (Exhibit 1) share numerous acts of 

kindness and generosity and show a person who has devoted his life to bettering the lives of 

those around him.  Outside of this offense, Mr. Strawbridge has lead an inspiring life, beyond 

what anyone could expect. 

That leaves the question of why someone who has always tried to do the right thing could 

make such a terrible mistake.  Even Mr. Strawbridge cannot answer with specificity what lead 

him to this moment of questionable judgment.  Likely, it was a confluence of personal 

circumstances and the influence of Mr. Allen, an underhanded business person.  Many nights Mr. 

Strawbridge's wife would wake to find him sitting up in bed pondering the various needs around 

him.   (Exhibit 2).  And, as Carter Lord expressed in his letter of support:  

There are a lot of tough, unscrupulous people in the world who will take 

advantage of situations and use people badly.  Rick Strawbridge is not one of those 

people.  But I know sometimes business puts us together with these kinds of people. 

(Exhibit 3). 

  

Mr. Strawbridge should have been smarter and stronger.  His offense has destroyed his 

reputation and tainted a life that should have been celebrated rather than condemned.  
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The offense in this case arose out of Mr. Strawbridge's sale of a custom home in Myrtle 

Beach, South Carolina.  Mr. Strawbridge had a friend and business partner who owned a 

condominium in Myrtle Beach and new the area well.  Mr. Strawbridge's friend encouraged 

some available residential construction projects.  Mr. Strawbridge and his friend each purchased 

a lot in a residential subdivision on which to build a custom home.  Mr. Strawbridge's builder 

completed construction of the home in 2007, and Mr. Strawbridge put it up for sale.   

A&O Companies, a nationwide real estate investment company, approached Mr. 

Strawbridge about purchasing the home.  Mr. Strawbridge was familiar with A&O and one of its 

owners, Eddie Allen.  A&O had an office on the top floor of a prominent bank building in 

Lakeland and appeared to be a successful and reputable business.   

A&O's business model operated through individual investors who were interested in real 

estate investments and had the ability to borrow money to purchase real estate.  A&O would find 

the investment property, the individual would purchase the property, A&O would then pay the 

carrying costs and market the property, and A&O would share the profits with the investor.  

Done correctly, this is a reasonable investment strategy. 

After A&O agreed to purchase Mr. Strawbridge's property, A&O informed him that they 

needed him to loan A&O's investor the money for the down payment on the property.  Although 

Mr. Strawbridge never had any contact with the investor who was applying for the mortgage and 

did not necessarily know how the investor would treat the loan, he had reason to know that the 

investor and A&O would not disclose to the lender that Mr. Strawbridge loaned the down 

payment money.  After the closing, Mr. Strawbridge received the down payment money back as 

part of the sale proceeds.  Mr. Allen was very persuasive and gave Mr. Strawbridge the 

impression that his intentions were good.   
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What Mr. Strawbridge did not know at the time was that A&O was carrying on a multi-

state Ponzi scheme fraud that ultimately resulted in the indictment and conviction of its two 

owners in Cleveland, Ohio.   Edward Allen received 90 months incarceration and David Olson 

received 52 months incarceration on a loss of nearly $19 million.    

Like many people who got caught up in the real estate boom, Mr. Strawbridge never 

believed the lender would lose money.  From his perspective, A&O was a strong company who 

would have no trouble selling the property.  The sad part of this case for Mr. Strawbridge is that 

he could have sold the property to any other buyer for two-thirds of what A&O paid, and he 

would have still made the same profit because Mr. Strawbridge's down payment loan made up a 

portion of the sale proceeds.  He trusted that A&O had a reason for its actions and that the 

reasons were not sinister.    

During the investigation of A&O in 2009, law enforcement interviewed Mr. Strawbridge.  

He was completely candid and cooperated.  He agreed to plead guilty in this case and waived 

indictment.  He has already satisfied the forfeiture amount.                      

Mr. Strawbridge appears to have an enviable life.  He grew up in a warm and supportive 

family who continue to stand by him.  He has a loving wife and children for whom he cares 

deeply, and he has built a successful business.  Unfortunately all of that is marred by a mistake 

from his past which has caught up with him.  Mr. Strawbridge cannot justify what he did nor can 

he hide from the consequences he now faces.  Unfortunately, regret cannot change the past.        

B.  Sentencing, 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) 

“It has been uniform and constant in the federal judicial tradition for the sentencing judge 

to consider every convicted person as an individual and every case as a unique study in the 

human failings that sometimes mitigate, sometimes magnify, the crime and the punishment to 
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ensue.”  Pepper v. United States, 131 S.Ct. 1229, 1240 (2011) (citing Koon v. United States, 518 

U.S. 81, 113, 116 (1996)).  Mr. Strawbridge unquestionably failed his family and himself.  

Nonetheless, a lengthy prison sentence is unnecessary to achieve the goals of sentencing.  Based 

on the analysis of all the factors set forth below, a sentence of time served followed by 

supervised release is reasonable in this case.   

1. The Nature and Circumstances of the Offense, Section 3553(a)(1) 

The nature and circumstances of Mr. Strawbridge's offense are serious.  Yet, as the 

Supreme Court recently reiterated, “the punishment should fit the offender and not merely the 

crime.”  Pepper, 131 S.Ct. at 1240 (citations omitted).  Mr. Strawbridge's role in defrauding the 

bank does not warrant incarceration.  From the standpoint of personal culpability, why the loss 

occurred is more significant than the amount.  United States v. Ranum, 2005 WL 161223, *5 

(E.D.Wis. 2005)(citing United States v. Emmenegger, 329 F.Supp.2d 416, 427-28 

(S.D.N.Y.2004)) ("Were less emphasis placed on the overly-rigid loss table, the identification of 

different types of fraud or theft offenses of greater or lesser moral culpability or danger to society 

would perhaps assume greater significance in assessing the seriousness of different frauds.").  

For most of Mr. Strawbridge's life, he was a responsible and dedicated son, brother, 

husband, and father.  He is very close to his family and has always done his best to support them.  

He made a terribly unfortunate decision during a remarkable period in the economic history of 

our country.  The interests of the Government in deterrence, correction, rehabilitation, and 

resource conservation would not be served by incarceration.   

2. The History and Characteristics of the Defendant, Section 3553(a)(1) 

"As you deliberate the fate of [Mr. Strawbridge] and his family's future, please take into 

account the fact you are judging a man who has performed a lifetime of good works.  Someone 
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who has always been willing to give of his time to help friends, family and even strangers 

whenever they are in need."  (Exhibit 4).  "I can only ask this Court to consider showing the 

mercy to [Mr. Strawbridge] that he has spent a lifetime showing to others."  (Exhibit 5).   

Mr. Strawbridge has no prior criminal history; rather his history is one of generosity, 

selflessness, and hard work.  The letters provided along with this memorandum provide the best 

reflection of Mr. Strawbridge's strong character.  A letter from Michael Arnett (Exhibit 6) sums 

up the effect Mr. Strawbridge has had on those around him: 

I can only say that sobbing on his shoulder while he comforted me was the 

kindest act I have ever experienced in my life.  Acts of kindness like that are very 

difficult to repay but you can rest assured I will go to my grave with pure gratitude in 

my heart knowing I have a friend like Rick Strawbridge.     

 

All of the letters express similar acts of kindness that have made a real difference in people's 

lives.  For example, one of Mr. Strawbridge's subcontractors was paralyzed in a diving accident 

on a fishing trip.  The subcontractor could no longer support his family on just his social security 

check.  Mr. Strawbridge paid half his mortgage for eighteen years so he would not lose his home.  

(Exhibit 7).  Mr. Strawbridge also helped and gave on a daily basis to his brother and his ten 

children after his brother was rendered a quadriplegic.  (Exhibit 8).  He rescued a fifteen year old 

runaway living on the streets and took her in as his foster daughter.  (Exhibit 9).  In all her years, 

she reports Mr. Strawbridge is the only man who has never failed her.  Id.  When a friend was 

suffering financial hardship during a pregnancy, Mr. Strawbridge organized a group to pay for all 

medical expenses for the child.  (Exhibit 10). Later, Mr. Strawbridge anonymously paid the 

tuition for her sons' school.  Id.  For another friend who was going through a divorce, he sent 

money to pay bills and buy groceries.  (Exhibit 11).  Later, he provided her with a home at no 

charge while she went to college to make a better life for her family.  Id.  He forgave a mortgage 

he held when a customer went through a period of unemployment.  (Exhibit 12).  He has helped 
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those in need in his rental units, either by accepting far below market rents, or by foregoing rent 

entirely.  (Exhibit 5).   He has employed people for no other reason than they needed a job.  

(Exhibit 13).  Mr. Strawbridge helped a high school student, whose single mother did not have 

the time or experience, obtain a college scholarship.  That student reports "[t]hat one act of 

generosity in particular changed the trajectory of my life so much so that I know that had he not 

stepped in; I would not be where I am today."  (Exhibit 14).  "[M]arriages [have been] mended, 

homes saved, and colleges attended because of his concern and commitment to the welfare of all 

those with whom he is associated."  (Exhibit 15).  

Mr. Strawbridge has served on many local and national community boards including the 

Salvation Army, Search Ministries, Polk County Young Life, 71:17 Ministries, Harrison School 

for the Arts, Lakeland Little Theatre, Polk County Builders' Association, and Youth for Christ.  

He has also volunteered with Service to the Elderly, Habitat for Humanity, Lakeland's 

Lighthouse Ministries, Parker Street Ministries, Lakeland Christian School, Fellowship of 

Christian Athletes, and Baseball Chapel.  He has been a Sunday school teacher for over 40 years, 

a Bible study leader, and a guest speaker or reader at many local schools and churches.  There 

are also the innumerable small or unseen acts of kindness and service which are a constant part 

of Mr. Strawbridge's course.  The letters of support show a person who has always put others 

above himself and made giving a priority.      

Mr. Strawbridge is ashamed of having to explain his actions to his family and friends and 

their loss of confidence in him.  (Exhibit 16).  Most significant to Mr. Strawbridge is that he has 

put his family in a position where he may not be able to support them.  Mr. Strawbridge supports 

his wife, his son and his family, his mother, his mother-in-law, and many other family members.  
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Mr. Strawbridge has always taken his responsibility to support his family very seriously, and he 

fears what will happen to his family without him.   

Mr. Strawbridge is a good person and has proved over the course of his life that he can be 

a successful and contributing member of his community.  He has an excellent chance to emerge 

from this case and continue to be a productive member of society.  See, e.g., United States v. 

Sayad, 589 F.3d 1110, 1118-1119 (10th Cir. 2009) (finding downward variance reasonable 

where defendant was “good candidate for rehabilitation” based on defendant’s recognition of 

seriousness of offense, strong family support, letters from the community, and lack of drug or 

sociopathic problems).   

Mr. Strawbridge has many outstanding qualities that have positively impacted many 

people.  Mr. Strawbridge's loyalty, hard work, and devotion make him a great husband, father, 

and business owner.  However, those same qualities made him vulnerable to the pressure and 

persuasiveness of a true criminal like Mr. Allen.   

Mr. Strawbridge is a better person than his offense would suggest.  Mr. Strawbridge 

respectfully asks the Court to consider the prior sixty-seven years of his life in determining how 

he will spend the next few years of his life.  “But, surely, if ever a man is to receive credit for the 

good he has done, and his immediate misconduct assessed in the context of his overall life 

hitherto, it should be at the moment of his sentencing, when his very future hangs in the 

balance.” United States v. Adelson, 441 F.Supp.2d 506, 513 514 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).  

3. The Need for the Sentence Imposed to Reflect the Seriousness of the Offense, to 

Promote Respect for the Law, and to Provide Just Punishment for the Offense, Section 

3553(a)(2)(A)  

 

“There is no reason to believe that respect for the law will increase if a defendant who 

deserves leniency is sentenced harshly any more than there is reason to believe that respect for 
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the law will increase if a defendant who deserves a harsh punishment receives a slap on the 

wrist.”  United States v. Stern, 590 F.Supp.2d 945, 957 (N.D. Ohio 2008).  The factual basis for 

Mr. Strawbridge's offense is set forth in his Plea Agreement.  However, a non-custodial sentence 

is not necessary in this case to achieve the goals of sentencing.  See Gall v. United States, 552 

U.S. 38, 48-49 (2007)(noting that while custodial sentences are qualitatively more severe than 

probationary sentences, offenders on probation are nonetheless subject to substantial restrictions 

on their liberty, and that probation is not merely letting an offender off easily).   

Mr. Strawbridge has respected the law his entire life and has done far more good than bad 

during his life. “[A] sentence of imprisonment may work to promote not respect, but derision, of 

the law if the law is viewed as merely a means to dispense harsh punishment without taking into 

account the real conduct and circumstances involved in sentencing.”  Gall, 552 U.S. at 54; see 

also United States v. Ontiveros, 2008 WL 2937539, at *3 (E.D. Wis. 2008)(“[A] sentence that is 

disproportionately long in relation to the offense is unjust and likewise fails to promote respect 

[for the law].”).    

When Mr. Strawbridge came under the scrutiny of the Government, he willingly 

cooperated throughout his own prosecution.  Also, and in line with Mr. Strawbridge's character, 

he set aside funds to satisfy his forfeiture obligation.  He will also have to pay a restitution 

amount that will put his financial position in jeopardy.  See Adelson, 441 F.Supp.2d at 514 (“In 

the case of financial fraud, however, an important kind of retribution may be achieved through 

the imposition of financial burdens.”); see also United States v. Savely, 814 F.Supp. 1519, 

1523 (D. Kan. 1993) (restitution serves the same traditional purposes of criminal punishment).   

Although it seems from his financial information that he has assets, much of that are rental 

houses and other properties that are encumbered by mortgages.  Even if he sold them, he would 
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lose the rental income upon which his family relies to pay their expenses.  He also has employees 

who rely on the rental income to pay their wages.  He has no other income because he cannot 

take on new construction projects knowing he may be incarcerated and unable to finish those 

projects.     

Notwithstanding any sanctions the Court may impose, Mr. Strawbridge has already been 

punished both personally and professionally.  His felony conviction has created problems for his 

construction business and may eventually become too problematic to overcome.  See United 

States v. Vigil, 476 F. Supp.2d 1231 (D.N.M. 2007) (imposing below-guideline sentence, in part, 

based on that defendant “suffered incalculable damage to his personal and professional 

reputation as a result of tremendous media coverage of his case…” and “was forced to resign his 

position as State Treasurer” because “when evaluating the justness of Vigil’s punishment for the 

purposes of reaching a reasonable sentence under United States v. Booker, it is important to 

consider all other forms of punishment …”).  In the construction industry, Mr. Strawbridge 

depends a great deal on his reputation and relationship with lenders and other businesses.  See 

United States v. Redemann, 295 F. Supp.2d 887 (E.D. Wis. 2003) (departing downward, in part, 

because “a great deal of adverse publicity in his small town…injured his business, which was 

dependant on defendant’s reputation and good will” which “partially satisfied the need for just 

punishment, …will likely deter him from future crimes,” and served general deterrence.) 

Regardless of the professional difficulties Mr. Strawbridge has faced as a result of his 

conviction, if he were incarcerated his family would be financially devastated.  He could not 

undertake any new construction jobs and would be unable to manage his rental properties.  Even 

upon release, Mr. Strawbridge is of the age that his future ability to restart his career would be in 

doubt.  Mr. Strawbridge's wife does not have the education, experience, or youth necessary to 
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either take over Mr. Strawbridge's business or find a job to replace his income.  Mr. 

Strawbridge's mother and mother-in-law also rely on his financial and physical support.  See 

United States v. Lupton, 2009 WL 1886007 (E.D. Wis. 2009) (noting that defendant’s “family 

suffered serious financial consequences” and that “separation from defendant’s family due to a 

prison term would certainly affect both” the family and the defendant; “I took these factors into 

account” in determining an appropriate sentence).    

Mr. Strawbridge placed his family in a strenuous financial position as a result of his 

offense.  Although the damage he has done to his family’s financial situation is tremendous, he 

also lives every day with the burden of knowing how he has disappointed them personally.  Mr. 

Strawbridge continues to have the support of his family, but his relationship with his wife and 

children has certainly been strained to the limits as a result of this experience.   

Mr. Strawbridge was a well-regarded and respected member of his community prior to 

this offense.  Now, he faces the prospect of losing everything if incarcerated.  “[R]etribution 

imposes punishment based upon moral culpability and asks: What penalty is needed to restore 

the offender to moral standing within the community?”  United States v. Bates, 2009 WL 

1011113, 2 (E.D.Wis. 2009)(quoting United States v. Cole, 2008 WL 5204441, 4 (N.D.Ohio 

2008)).  Mr. Strawbridge is trying his best to regain his moral standing within the community.  

He is slowly rebuilding his life and regaining the trust of his family and friends.   If incarcerated, 

all of his progress would be lost.   

 Mr. Strawbridge hurts deeply for the pain and trouble he has caused for his family.  With 

all due respect to the Court’s sentencing powers, Mr. Strawbridge has already felt punishment 

more severe than he could have imagined.   See United States v. Anderson, 533 F.3d 623 (8
th

 Cir. 

2008) (affirming departure for defendant convicted on insider trading and money laundering 
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based in part on ways in which defendant “suffered atypical punishment such as the loss of his 

reputation and his company”).  Mr. Strawbridge "truly owns all the blame that is his and then 

some but what we hope you will consider, your Honor, is the lifelong journey and wonderful 

contribution Rick Strawbridge has made in the lives of countless people."  (Exhibit 16). 

4. The Need for the Sentence Imposed to Afford Adequate Deterrence to Criminal 

Conduct, Section 3553(a)(2)(B) 

 

As discussed above, Mr. Strawbridge has felt severe consequences and will never be the 

same from this offense.  From the perspective of general deterrence to the public at large, a 

sentence of time served with supervised release in light of what Mr. Strawbridge has already 

experienced will not encourage criminal behavior.  See Steven N. Durlauf & Daniel S. Nagin, 

Imprisonment and Crime: Can Both be Reduced?, 10 Criminology & Pub. Pol‘y 13, 37 (2011) 

(deterrence is achieved with certainty of punishment, not its severity); Raymond Pasternoster, 

How Much Do We Really Know About Criminal Deterrence, 100 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 765, 

817 (2010)([I]in virtually every deterrence study to date, the perceived certainty of punishment 

was more important than the perceived severity).  Furthermore, the primary perpetrators from 

A&O have all been punished.   

5. The Need for the Sentence Imposed to Protect the Public from Further Crimes of 

the Defendant, Section 3553(a)(2)(C)   

        

Mr. Strawbridge is extremely unlikely to commit any other offenses and he has no prior 

history of violent or disruptive behavior.  See Stern, 590 F.Supp.2d at 958 (“While the Court is 

mindful that those who have engaged in this criminal behavior in the past are always susceptible 

to it in the future, there are none of the factors present that typically have lead courts to impose 

longer sentences in order to incapacitate a defendant.”); United States v. Smith, 275 Fed.Appx. 

184, 188 (4th Cir.2008) (per curiam) (finding a below Guidelines sentence appropriate in part 

Case 8:14-cr-00141-SCB-MAP   Document 22   Filed 07/16/14   Page 13 of 23 PageID 245



14 

 

because of the defendant's “low risk of recidivism”).  The public need not fear Mr. Strawbridge. 

See United States v. Bates, 2009 WL 1011113, 2 (E.D. Wis. 2009)(“Given defendant's age, lack 

of record and otherwise pro-social behavior, I saw no need for prison to protect the public.”).    

He has been more of an asset to his community than a detriment.  To incarcerate Mr. 

Strawbridge would only heap unnecessary expense on the public.      

6. The Need for the Sentence Imposed to Provide the Defendant with Needed 

Educational or Vocational Training, Medical Care, or Other Correctional Treatment 

in the Most Effective Manner, Section 3553(a)(2)(D) 

 

Mr. Strawbridge understands the value of education and has he has always shown a 

propensity to better himself.  Mr. Strawbridge is a college graduate and has obtained his building 

contractor’s license so he has marketable skills.  This is not a situation where Mr. Strawbridge 

would be forced to turn to crime to support himself because he has no marketable skills.  Mr. 

Strawbridge is also not at the age where additional education would help him secure 

employment.  Mr. Strawbridge would not so greatly benefit from programs offered by the 

Bureau of Prisons so to make prison a more attractive alternative.  If anything, prison would have 

the opposite effect on his prospects for future employment because if incarcerated he would lose 

his business, he may be forced into bankruptcy, and he would essentially have to start over from 

scratch upon release at seventy years of age.  See United States v. Hawkins, 380 F.Supp.2d 143, 

165 (E.D.N.Y. 2005), aff'd, 228 Fed.Appx. 107 (2d Cir. 2007) (concluding that any incarceration 

“will in effect doom her.... Rehabilitation should not now be destroyed by wanton and unthinking 

application of mechanical rules for imprisonment.”).   

Mr. Strawbridge's medical condition would also present difficulties for him in prison.  He 

has been under the care of the Watson Clinic in Lakeland for the past several years due to 

recurrent cancer on his eye and melanoma on his shoulder and neck.  He also had knee 
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replacement surgery last year.  He needs a hip replacement due to a deteriorating condition.  His 

doctor wanted to schedule the surgery this summer, but he has held off due the uncertainty of 

Mr. Strawbridge's future.  Mr. Strawbridge also needs surgery on his shoulder.  The hip is of 

more immediate concern and his doctor recommended performing the hip surgery first, and after 

a period of recovery, doing the shoulder surgery.  If Mr. Strawbridge were incarcerated, he 

would have to undergo these surgeries and corresponding recovery and rehabilitation under the 

care of the BOP.  If surgery were postponed until after he completes his sentence, he would need 

accommodations for pain management and limited mobility.     

A 2012 study documenting the strain placed on the prison system by the specific needs 

and vulnerabilities of older inmates noted that prisons are constrained by straitened budgets, 

prison architecture not designed for common age-related disabilities, limited medical facilities 

and staff, lack of planning, lack of support from elected officials, and the press of day-to-day 

operations. Old Behind Bars, The Aging Prison Population in the United States, Human Rights 

Watch (2012), summary page, hrw.org.  Medical expenditures for older prisoners are three to 

nine times as high as for other prisoners.  In Florida, 16 percent of the prison population age 50 

or over accounts for 40.1 percent of all episodes of medical care and 47.9 percent of all hospital 

days.  Old Behind Bars, The Aging Prison Population in the United States, Human Rights Watch 

(2012), p. 76, citing, State of Florida Correctional Medical Authority, “2009 -2010 Annual 

Report and Report on Aging Inmates,” pp.16, 59-61.   

7. The Kinds of Sentences Available, Section 3553(a)(3) 

Following United States v. Gall, 128 S.Ct. 586 (2008), the Court is free to impose any 

reasonable sentence. Although 18 U.S.C. § 3561(a) precludes a sentence of only probation, 

"nothing in the statute requires a minimum term of imprisonment." United States v. Lahey, 186 
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F.3d 272, 274 (2d Cir. 1999); see also United States v. Elliott, 971 F.2d 620, 621 (10th 

Cir.1992) (“[A] sentence of zero months does not literally violate the prohibition on probation 

in 18 U.S.C. § 3561(a)(1).”).   

8.    The Sentencing Guidelines, Section 3553(a)(4)
2
 

Mr. Strawbridge requests the Court look beyond the guidelines to the circumstances of 

this offense to his personal character and show leniency by sentencing him to a non-prison 

sentence.  See Gall, 127 S.Ct. at 2456 (sentencing court should make an individualized 

assessment based on the facts presented).  The Guidelines range is not presumptively reasonable.  

See id.  The Guidelines are but one factor, all of which are accorded equal weight, for the Court 

to consider.  See United States v. Biheiri, 356 F.Supp.2d 589, 594 n. 6 (E.D. Va. 2005).  District 

judges are now free to apply their own perceptions of just punishment, deterrence, and protection 

of the public even when these differ from the perceptions of the Commission members who drew 

up the guidelines. United States v. Rodriguez, 406 F.3d 1261, 1289 (11
th

 Cir. 2005) (Tjoflat, J., 

dissenting) (citing Booker, 125 S.Ct. at 790 (Scalia, J., dissenting)).  

Whether couched as a departure or variance, Mr. Strawbridge asks the Court to consider 

four grounds for departure found within the framework of the guidelines, but which also support 

a variance to a non-prison sentence: charitable works and employment contributions; age and 

medical condition; family circumstances; and the loss overstates the seriousness of the offense.  

“[A]fter Booker, a district judge can fairly consider policy statements concerning departures and 

fairly decide to impose a non-Guidelines sentence without definitively resolving close questions 

regarding the precise meaning or application of a departure policy statement.”  See United States 

v. Canova, 412 F.3d 331, 358 n. 28 (2d Cir. 2005).  

                                                 
2
 Section 3553(a)(5), any pertinent policy statement issued by the sentencing Commission, is included in this 

section.   
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 a.  Charitable Works and Employment Related Contributions 

 Following Gall, there is no requirement of “’extraordinary’ circumstances to justify a 

sentence outside the Guidelines range.”  Gall,  552 U.S. at 47.  However, even under the rigid 

framework of the guidelines, Mr. Strawbridge's extraordinary history of good works, service to 

his community, and employment-related contributions independently serve as a basis for a 

departure under USSG §5H1.1.  Although “the guideline generally discourages departures on the 

stated grounds; it does not bar them absolutely.”  United States v. Canova, 412 F.3d 331, 358 (2d 

Cir. 2005).  Mr. Strawbridge's lifelong service to his family and community makes this an 

exceptional case warranting a departure.  

  b.  Age and Medical Condition 

 Mr. Strawbridge's age and medical condition also warrant a departure or variance.  Under 

USSG §§ 5H1.1 and 5H1.4, which provides for a departure in a case in which the defendant is 

elderly and infirm or has a physical condition where a form of punishment such as home 

confinement might be equally efficient as and less costly than incarceration.  Mr. Strawbridge is 

not completely debilitated by his age or medical conditions, but he does require the supervision 

of his physicians for his cancer and needs two surgical procedures in the near future to improve 

his mobility.  The most cost effective and efficient means of treating Mr. Strawbridge's maladies 

is to continue with his current physicians who are familiar with his health history and treatment 

plans.  And, with Mr. Strawbridge's age, his physical condition is only likely to worsen, 

particularly if his treatment is not maintained to its current degree.  See United States v. 

McFarlin, 535 F.3d 808 (8th  Cir. 2008) (Defendant's sentence to three years of probation and no 

imprisonment, for conspiracy to distribute 102 grams of cocaine base, was not unreasonable, 

despite that his sentencing guidelines range would be 78 to 97 months, where defendant was 56 
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years old and had a significant medical history and was taking eleven prescription drugs).  Mr. 

Strawbridge is not a danger to the community, thus, a non-prison sentence is equally efficient 

and less costly than incarceration.  Additionally, Mr. Strawbridge's advanced age and mobility 

problems subject him to potential victimization if incarcerated.  United States v. Long, 977 F.2d 

1264, 1277 (8th Cir. 1992) (approving departure based on defendant's frail health). 

  c.  Family Circumstances 

 The detriment to Mr. Strawbridge's family is also an important consideration.  His wife, 

mother, mother-in-law, and son's family all reside on his property and rely on him for support.  

Mr. Strawbridge also has employees and subcontractors who rely on his business.  The Bureau of 

Prisons will provide Mr. Strawbridge with a roof, a bed and meals.  Unfortunately, Mr. 

Strawbridge's family will bear the burden of his incarceration.  See United States v. Jebara, 313 

F.Supp.2d 912, 917 (E.D.Wis. 2004) (departure warranted to avoid “needless suffering” of 

family).    

  d.  Loss Calculation 

 Finally, the primary factor calling for Mr. Strawbridge's incarceration is the loss amount.  

Mr. Strawbridge objected to the Presentence Report's loss calculation for including loss 

associated with the property purchased and sold by Dan Kiehl.  Mr. Strawbridge and Mr. Kiehl 

were not involved in a conspiracy or any jointly undertaken criminal activity.  Mr. Kiehl owned 

the property individually and was responsible for any activities related to the property.  Mr. 

Strawbridge did not negotiate the sale of Mr. Kiehl's property.  Mr. Strawbridge did not know of 

Mr. Kiehl's arrangement or have any control over its execution.  Mr. Strawbridge did not benefit 

or receive anything of value from Mr. Kiehl's sale of the property.  Mr. Kiehl is charged by 

separate indictment with making a false statement in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.  Mr. 
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Strawbridge had no knowledge or involvement in Mr. Kiehl's false statement and should not be 

held criminally responsible for it.     

  If the Court is inclined to include the Kiehl property, Mr. Strawbridge asks the Court to 

consider a departure under USSG §2B1.1, comment (n.19(C)) because the guideline calculation 

driven by the loss overstates the seriousness of the offense.  The loss in this case is something 

Mr. Strawbridge never intended and a factor over which he had very little control.  See, e.g., 

United States v. Emmenegger, 329 F.Supp.2d 416, 427 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (“In many cases, 

including this one, the amount stolen is a relatively weak indicator of the moral seriousness of 

the offense or the need for deterrence. To a considerable extent, the amount of loss caused by 

this crime is a kind of accident, dependent as much on the diligence of the victim's security 

procedures as on [the defendant's] cupidity.”).  The greatest contributing enhancement to his 

guidelines sentence is the result of conduct which occurred after the offense, in which he did not 

participate, and which could have potentially led to no loss.  Id. at 427-428 (“Were less emphasis 

placed on the overly-rigid loss table, the identification of different types of fraud or theft offenses 

of greater or lesser moral culpability or danger to society would perhaps assume greater 

significance in assessing the seriousness of different frauds.”).   

 Mr. Strawbridge's limited involvement in the offense does not warrant strict adherence to 

the Guidelines.  See Desmond, 2008 WL 686779 at 2 -3  (N.D.Ill. 2008)(finding amount of loss 

vastly overstates defendant’s culpability and produces a Guidelines sentence that is grossly 

disproportional to defendant’s relatively minor participation in the offense); see also United 

States v. Samaras, 390 F.Supp.2d 805, 809-10 (E.D.Wis.2005) (finding a sentence below the 

Guidelines range appropriate where range was driven by a high loss amount, but defendant had 

no role in setting that amount and did not profit from it any more than from his legitimate 
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business dealings); see also United States v. Redemann, 295 F.Supp.2d 887, 899 (E.D.Wis.2003) 

(a defendant with a limited or inferior role in the fraud may be entitled to a downward departure).  

“The Court cannot fulfill its duty by relying exclusively on a fixed equation that supposedly 

translates generalities to unexceptionally reasonable and right judgments.  In reality, no written 

law ever crafted by humans has achieved that ideal.” United States v. Williams, 372 F.Supp.2d 

1335, 1338 (M.D.Fla. 2005);  see also Adelson, 441 F.Supp.2d at 509, 512 (“As many have 

noted, the Sentencing Guidelines, because of their arithmetic approach and also in an effort to 

appear “objective,” tend to place great weight on putatively measurable quantities, such as the 

weight of drugs in narcotics cases or the amount of financial loss in fraud cases, without, 

however, explaining why it is appropriate to accord such huge weight to such factors…What this 

exposed, more broadly, was the utter travesty of justice that sometimes results from the 

guidelines' fetish with abstract arithmetic, as well as the harm that guideline calculations can visit 

on human beings if not cabined by common sense”).  

9. The Need to Avoid Unwarranted Sentence Disparities Among Defendants with 

Similar Records Who Have Been Found Guilty of Similar Conduct, Section 

3553(a)(6) 

 

 “Congress [through the Sentencing Guidelines]…sought to eliminate only ‘unwarranted’ 

disparities, while enabling judges to consider those factors that cannot be tallied in advance, but 

that may create ‘warranted’ disparities in sentencing.”  United States v. Jaber, 362 F.Supp.2d 

365, 373 (D. Mass. 2005).  Sentencing Mr. Strawbridge below the guideline range will not create 

an “unwarranted” disparity among defendants found guilty of similar conduct, because a 

departure or variance in Mr. Strawbridge's case is warranted.  See id. at 376 (citing S.Rep. No. 

98-225, at 38 (1984)) (“Differences justified by ‘differences among offenses or offenders’ are 

warranted.  Differences in the treatment of offenders based on identifiable, sustainable standards, 
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spelled out in decisions, statements of reasons, or transcripts, and subject to review, or even 

testing, are not ‘unwarranted.’”).     

Comparing sentences is difficult because each defendant’s culpability depends on many 

unique factors.  Mr. Allen and Mr. Olson, the principals of A&O, both received sentences of 

incarceration.  But, their activity was much more egregious and expansive than Mr. 

Strawbridge's limited involvement.  Their purchase of Mr. Strawbridge's property was just a 

sliver of their pie and tangentially related to their Ponzi scheme.   

Mr. Strawbridge is a good person who got caught up in something bad.  His history and 

characteristics, family responsibilities, and other mitigating circumstances "warrant" a disparity 

in his sentence.    

10. The Need to Provide Restitution to any Victims of the Offense, Section 3553(a)(7)  

 

 For Mr. Strawbridge, the greatest punishment he faces is the financial jeopardy in which 

he has placed his family.  “In the case of financial fraud…an important kind of retribution may 

be achieved through the imposition of financial burdens.”  See Adelson, 441 F.Supp.2d at 514.   

In order to satisfy his restitution obligation and support his family, he needs to continue to work, 

manage his rental property business, and market his property in the most efficient manner to 

maximize returns.  Mr. Strawbridge is in the best position to continue to run his business.  Trying 

to find someone to assume his role would be inefficient and may result in his assets losing value.   

 Rather than enjoying retirement, Mr. Strawbridge will have to spend the next several 

years trying to pay restitution.  Given his earning potential and advancing age, he has a much 

better chance of completing his restitution if he is permitted to continue to work rather than 

delaying his employment through a period of incarceration.  Mr. Strawbridge is unlikely to 

commit any new offenses, he poses no danger to the community, and he is truly remorseful for 
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what he did.  The most effective punishment and the greatest benefit to the bank and taxpayers 

would be to have Mr. Strawbridge continue to work to pay his restitution.  See United States v. 

Savely, 814 F.Supp. 1519, 1523 (D. Kan. 1993) (restitution is a criminal penalty, is an element of 

the criminal sentence, and serves the same traditional purposes of criminal punishment).   

C.  Conclusion    

 For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Strawbridge respectfully requests the Court show leniency 

and sentence him to time served followed by a period of supervised release. 
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TROMBLEY & HANES, 

/s/  P. Matthew Luka_________. 

GARY R. TROMBLEY 

gtrombley@trombleyhaneslaw.com   

Florida Bar No.  165721 

P. MATTHEW LUKA 

mluka@trombleyhaneslaw.com 

Florida Bar No. 555630 

707 North Franklin Street, 10th Floor  

Tampa, Florida  33602 

Telephone: (813) 229-7918 

Facsimile:  (813) 223-5204 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 16th day of July 2014, I electronically filed the 

foregoing with the clerk of the Court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of 

electronic filing to the following: 

 

Thomas Palermo, Esq. 

Assistant United States Attorney 

400 North Tampa, Suite 3200 

Tampa, Florida 33602 

 

 

 

I further certify that I mailed the foregoing and the notice of electronic filing by first class mail to 

the following non-CM-ECF participant:  

 

Case 8:14-cr-00141-SCB-MAP   Document 22   Filed 07/16/14   Page 22 of 23 PageID 254



23 

 

Michael Washington 

U.S. Probation Office 

401 E. Jackson St. 

30
th

 Floor 

Tampa, Florida 33602 

 

       /s/  P. Matthew Luka______. 

       P. MATTHEW LUKA 

Case 8:14-cr-00141-SCB-MAP   Document 22   Filed 07/16/14   Page 23 of 23 PageID 255


